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Preface






On 27 September 1922, during fierce fighting for control of the town of Killorglin, IRA Volunteer Con Looney was shot and fatally wounded. As his young life ebbed away, his final words were recorded by his comrades: ‘Give my rifle to my brother, my love to my mother and tell them I am dying for the cause.’ His rifle was brought back to his brother and perhaps his mother’s grief was eased a little by his last declaration of affection. And he did die for ‘The Cause’ – the cause of Irish freedom. With the passage of time, as his comrades died and the generations changed, the story of Con Looney faded in all but the memories of his family and An Dream Beag Dilís, ‘The Faithful Few’.


The men and women who fought for Ireland’s freedom were not conscripted to do so, nor were they paid for their services. They were volunteer soldiers driven only by an ideal which had been handed down to them by generations past and that ideal was the unquenchable belief that the Irish people should live in freedom, unfettered by foreign domination. In the course of their brief lives not force of arms, not lonely prison cells, not inhuman torture, not material inducements and ultimately not even death could separate these volunteer soldiers from that ideal.


Ironically, however, it was this idealism that proved to be the catalyst that hastened their memory on its journey into a national amnesia. While soldiers fight wars, it is politicians who get to guide the subsequent histories. Such histories are often based on the requirements considered expedient for their current political needs. Unrealised ideals become embarrassments and so must follow the well-worn path of apathy to antipathy and eventually to ridicule. The volunteer soldiers who died for the cause of freedom could not and cannot be separated from the beliefs that inspired them and so it was deemed necessary to consign these men and women to the national amnesia along with their ideals. Thus it is a sad fact that within a couple of generations the nation that they fought and died for has shamefully forgotten these heroes. It is the aim of this book to go some way towards preserving the memory of the lives, deaths and ideals of these men of Kerry who died for ‘The Cause’.


During the twentieth century over 150 Kerry men died in the fight for Irish freedom. Many were killed in action but others were executed or died while in captivity as a result of brutality or neglect. Some had their physical or mental health broken, ending their young lives prematurely, but theirs was no less a sacrifice than had they fallen in the heat of battle. A final, definitive list of those who died for ‘The Cause’ defied any clear criteria and so it was left to the fallen Volunteers’ comrades to be the arbiters of whom they considered had given their lives for Ireland’s freedom. Just as the fight for freedom in Kerry was fought by local men with little outside assistance or influence, thus the patriotic dead would be remembered by locally erected memorials without any ‘official’ twenty-six county government input. The names of the fallen were inscribed by their comrades on monuments at Ballyseedy, Cahersiveen and Rathmore, and on memorials in numerous cemeteries and on roadsides, in fields and on the streets of Kerry. It is these men, whose names are carved in stone and who generations before us considered to have had died for ‘The Cause’, that are remembered in this book.


A strong sense of local identity has always been a defining feature of the Kerry persona. That bond between the person and native place was forged by centuries of battling nature and foreigner to maintain a precarious foothold on a land that was challenging but beautiful, unyielding but embracing. These young men defined themselves by the land which nurtured them. Thus they were part of a townland, part of a parish, part of a village or town. They fought and died with comrades from their own areas and so guided by this, they are listed not by rank or chronology, but in the battalions to which they were attached. Each battalion was formed from companies which generally represented parishes and from 1919 onwards these battalions evolved and divided, were named and renamed, designated to brigades and re-designated. As such, assigning fallen soldiers into precise military units is inherently flawed but does serve a useful purpose in the pursuit of local remembrance. Other Kerrymen died outside the county. There are several Volunteers from other counties who died in Kerry and others who were buried in Kerry soil having fallen elsewhere in the fight for freedom. All had a story and all died for ‘The Cause’ and so are included in these pages. Finally there are some who died, not in the line of fire, but whose surviving comrades thought their contribution or sacrifice sufficient to inscribe their names in stone on monuments so that these men too would be remembered.


With his last breath Con Looney wished his people to know that he was dying for ‘The Cause’. This book is not a history of Kerry’s contribution in the fight for Irish freedom in the twentieth century. Rather, it was written as a memorial to those men who gave their lives in that struggle, so that all those who died for ‘The Cause’ would be remembered with pride by their people.


Tim Horgan


2015
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Introduction






On a winter’s evening in November 1583 in Glanageenty, Ballymacelligott, another war of independence ended. The Earl of Desmond was finally captured and beheaded by Irishmen in the service of the English crown. All that remained of his army after four years of warfare was a small guerrilla band, and with his death, Queen Elizabeth I’s rule over County Kerry was no longer disputed. Banished to the mountains and bogs, the people brought only their faith, their stories and a deep sense of grievance. When the rebellion of 1641 erupted in Ulster this emboldened the dispossessed in Kerry and, led by the remnants of the old Gaelic nobility, the county was quickly in the hands of the people who had become rebels in their own land. But that brief interlude lasted only until Cromwell’s armies crushed the hopes of Gaelic Ireland. When General John Ludlow captured Ross Castle in 1653, the rebellion was over and English rule was made more secure as the lands of Kerry were planted with Cromwellian officers as part of the division of the spoils of war.


For two centuries the county would remain in a peaceful but unjust equilibrium, victor and vanquished, landed and landless, prosperous and impoverished, English and Irish. The ideals of the American and French Revolutions would inspire the great rebellion of 1798, but only elsewhere in the country, as Kerry remained almost untouched by the events of that summer of freedom. The agrarian unrest of the Whiteboys in the early decades of the nineteenth century did nothing to change the equilibrium between conquerors and conquered. Daniel O’Connell’s great promises of a new order with Catholic Emancipation and Repeal would fail to upset the unjust balance between landed and landless as he left Ireland firmly part of Britain’s now mighty Empire. Hundreds of thousands of lives spent eking out miserable existences on mountainsides and bogs would be quenched in the Great Famine of the 1840s. While corn still grew and fish still swam in rivers, the crown forces guarded food exports and starvation and disease took a third of the population of Kerry to unmarked and mass graves. Yet that unjust equilibrium between master and slave endured.


A broken people found refuge on America’s shores and there Ireland’s exiles gained a new confidence and the flames of freedom began to ignite once again. Just as people went west across the ocean, the seeds of revolution in the form of the Fenian Brotherhood came east across the Atlantic. In the 1860s the Fenian message found fertile ground in the towns of Kerry and murmurings of rebellion again swept the countryside. But hampered by indecision and infiltrated by Irishmen whose loyalty lay with the crown rather than their own people, the rebellion foundered before it could start. In February 1867 Colonel J. J. O’Connor, a Valentia-born American Civil War veteran, led the Fenians of Cahersiveen in open rebellion, but within days the ‘gold sun of freedom’ had once again set. The might of Britain quickly crushed his heroic band that would be recalled in song as the ‘Boys of Foilmore’. But still their cause endured, undeterred by the power of the Empire or the condemnation of its clerical allies.


In the 1880s the power of the landed gentry to extract rents from an impoverished people began to be resisted. The confrontation between the landlords and those whose battle cry was ‘The land to the People’ was most acute in Kerry. As the constitutional Land League was unable to match the power of the landlords, the police and the legal system that stood behind them, groups of young men banded together to defend their people using guerrilla tactics. These Moonlighters were especially active in the Castleisland, Ballymacelligott and Firies areas, which were described in contemporary police reports as ‘the most disturbed districts in Ireland’. By the early 1890s the sway of the landlords within the county was broken.


But the people of Ireland would still not sit comfortably within Britain’s Empire. The colonial government had been largely successful in suppressing Ireland’s identity, with our native language and culture pushed towards extinction as the Irish became increasingly anglicised. Then, in 1884, the Gaelic Athletic Association was formed to promote native games and in 1893 the Gaelic League was established to promote the revival of what remained of the Irish language and culture. Soon the national spirit was regaining its confidence. Politicians promised Home Rule for Ireland but failed to deliver as Britain was determined to keep its first colony within its imperial clutches. However, the separatist tradition amongst the Irish people could not all be enticed by political promises. On 25 November 1913 the Irish Volunteers were formed in Dublin’s Rotunda and their founding manifesto stated the organisation’s aim ‘to secure and maintain the rights and liberties common to all Irish People’. Though initially unstated, Republicans saw the Volunteers as a vehicle for securing Ireland’s independence, even if that entailed an armed uprising, while moderate nationalists saw the rapidly growing organisation as a force that would pressurise the British government into implementing Home Rule. Within a week Volunteer companies were formed in Killarney and Tralee. It was an idea whose time had come and soon every parish in Kerry had a group of young men drilling with rudimentary weapons and awaiting a time to strike. Britain’s difficulty should have been Ireland’s opportunity, but with the advent of the Great War in August 1914, John Redmond caused a split in the Irish Volunteers as he called on Ireland’s young men to support Britain’s war with Germany. Throughout the land the vast majority heeded Redmond’s call and became the National Volunteers. He had gambled Ireland’s youth in the hope of having Home Rule, now on the statute books, implemented at the end of the war, but as a result Ireland’s young men died in their tens of thousands on the battlefields of Europe. In Kerry, however, the Irish Volunteers remained largely intact, with only a minority joining the National Volunteers. Shorn of moderate nationalist influence the Irish Volunteers, increasingly controlled by the Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB), laid plans for an armed uprising while Britain was distracted by the war.


In Kerry Austin Stack, a renowned Gaelic footballer and administrator, was the commander of the Irish Volunteers. It was to him that the Military Council of the IRB entrusted the task of unloading and distributing the vast arsenal of weapons that Germany was to send on board the arms ship Aud at Easter 1916. The Aud was expected in Tralee Bay on Easter Saturday and Stack’s closely guarded arrangements were based on this exact date. However, the German High Command had been given a three-day window to get its arms shipment to Fenit. So when Captain Spindler sailed into Tralee Bay on Thursday 20 April, he was not expected and neither were Roger Casement and his two companions who came ashore from a submarine at Banna Strand on Good Friday. Meanwhile, at Ballykissane, also on Good Friday, three Volunteers died during an attempt to acquire radio equipment to be used to contact the Aud – they were to be the first casualties of the Rising. Con Keating, Charlie Monaghan and Donal (Dan) Sheehan were also the first of about 150 Republican Volunteers to die in Kerry in an attempt to establish an Irish Republic.


When the Aud was scuttled and Casement detained, the plans for a rising in Kerry fell into chaos and this deteriorated into a paralysis when a lapse in judgement by Stack led to his incarceration by the RIC. Robert Monteith, who had come from Germany with Casement, was given command of the mustered Volunteers at Tralee on Easter Sunday. However, he judged it more prudent to dismiss them and prepare for another fight on another day.


The military defeat of the Rising and its subsequent executions and imprisonments did not cower the people of Ireland as it had done in other generations. Within a year the Irish Volunteers had reorganised and gained in confidence as sympathy towards the national cause replaced the apathy or antagonism a year previously. In Kerry, two Volunteers had died in April 1918 in an attack on the Gortatlea RIC Barracks and in retaliation two of the constables involved were shot in Tralee in broad daylight while attending the resulting inquest. The general election of November 1918 confirmed the popular support for the Republican cause and with the formation of Dáil Éireann in January 1919 a new era had begun. The Irish Volunteers armed themselves with weapons procured locally or captured from the enemy. Within months the paramilitary RIC had retreated from the countryside and fortified their barracks in the larger towns as they came under increasing attack from a guerrilla force that was rapidly gaining in confidence and sophistication. By the summer of 1920 vast areas of County Kerry had no police presence and the county became ungovernable. The civic administration of the British crown also collapsed in rural Ireland. With the RIC unable to cope with the deteriorating situation, they were reinforced by hastily recruited temporary constables. These Black and Tans would work in tandem with the RIC as they attempted to quell the rebellion with brutality. But their terrorist methods only provoked those they sought to control and in late 1920 a further force was sent to assist the RIC. The former British officers who made up the Auxiliary Division of the RIC were efficient and seasoned fighters. ‘H’ Company of the Auxiliary Division was based in Kerry under the command of the notorious and fearless Major McKinnon. But as the forces of the crown increased in strength so too did the resolve of those resisting British rule. Each battalion within the county had an active service unit by the spring of 1921 and the intensity of the conflict remorselessly grew until 11 July 1921, when, unable to quell the Republican forces, the British entered into a truce with Republicans.


Treaty negotiations went on until December until, under threat of ‘terrible war’, the Irish plenipotentiaries agreed to terms. Ireland was to be partitioned and those who governed the twenty-six counties were to be given limited power in exchange for an oath of allegiance to the crown. Ireland was to remain part of the Empire. The country’s opinion divided, as was to be expected. Most of the men who had done the fighting objected that their sacrifices were to be sold for far less than a thirty-two county Republic free from Britain. Those under the age of twenty-five, which was the majority of active Volunteers, did not even have a vote; nor did women under the age of thirty. But Michael Collins and his pro-Treaty faction in Dáil Éireann won the day. The Anglo-Irish Treaty was ratified and from now on Irishmen would be used to do what Britain could not; quell the Republican rebellion.


The inevitable Civil War began on 28 June 1922 when Free State forces shelled the Republican headquarters in Dublin’s Four Courts. Within a week the Republican forces in Dublin had been defeated, but a quick and decisive Free State victory was not to be as the men of Munster stood firm in defence of the Republic that they had fought for during the previous three years. A defensive line was formed between Limerick and Waterford, and Republican columns from Kerry, Cork, Limerick and Tipperary prevented Free State forces from entering the Republican heartland in the south. But soon this defensive strategy began to crumble in the face of better-equipped and numerically superior pro-Treaty forces. In the first fortnight of August, Free State Army units invaded by sea in Fenit, Tarbert, Kenmare, Passage West and Union Hall and quickly captured the virtually undefended towns of Munster. The Republican forces were again forced to retreat to the countryside and revert to the guerrilla warfare that had been successful against the British. Nowhere was this phase of the conflict more bloodily fought than in Kerry, as the IRA units continued to resist even as the hope of victory grew dimmer.


The Dublin Guard and 1st Western Division of the Free State Army became an occupying army in Kerry. Guerrilla warfare by the Republicans was met with mass arrests of Republican men and women, executions, the mass killings of prisoners and a brutality that the British had been reticent to use on the native population. On 10 April 1923, IRA Chief of Staff Liam Lynch was killed in action and his replacement Frank Aiken declared a ceasefire on 30 April, followed by an order for Republican forces to dump their arms on 24 May. The defence of the Republic had ended. Apart from the many dead, hundreds were imprisoned and these men and women would have to endure appalling conditions and a long hunger strike in November 1923 before most were released in December. It would be the summer of the next year when the last prisoners were finally freed. There was no attempt at any reconciliation as the new state stamped its authority on the twenty-six counties it controlled.


The Irish Free State was an unwelcome place for the defeated Republicans and hundreds left to begin their lives anew in the United States, free from the harassment, unemployment and disillusionment that was their lot following their release from prison. The Republican movement fragmented, with most following de Valera into the constitutional politics of a partitioned country. A minority remained true to the original ideals of 1916 and a much weakened IRA and Sinn Féin continued to survive. When de Valera and his Fianna Fáil party was elected to power in 1932, there were high expectations that partition might be unravelled, but this was not the case as the party diluted its Republican values and promoted populist economic policies. Figures from the revolutionary period such as John Joe Rice and John Joe Sheehy continued to carry the Republican torch in Kerry.


In 1938 the IRA launched a campaign of bombing in Britain, mirroring a similar tactic used in the 1880s by the Fenian Dynamitards. Several Kerry IRA Volunteers were amongst those who operated in English cities, but by 1940 the campaign instigated by 1916 veteran Seán Russell had petered out.


The Second World War was regarded as another opportunity to pressurise Britain into withdrawing from Ireland. While a campaign was planned in 1942 to attack British targets in the six counties, it failed to materialise as the Fianna Fáil government turned on their erstwhile allies. Hundreds of Republicans were interned, including many from Kerry. Those executed for Republican activities by the de Valera regime included two from County Kerry: Maurice O’Neill and Charlie Kerins.


While another military campaign along the border began in 1956, it too was short-lived. IRA activists from Kerry were involved and several received prison sentences. A swell of popular support for the Republican cause saw Tan War veteran John Joe Rice elected as a Sinn Féin TD for South Kerry. But by 1962 the IRA leadership accepted defeat and declared a ceasefire.


In 1969, precipitated by demands for civil rights, Irish Republicans embarked on another struggle for independence in the six counties. A long and bloody campaign would see some Kerry IRA Volunteers on active service in Northern Ireland and in Britain. The Kerry command played an important role as the latest Troubles went on for three decades. Many from the county suffered long terms of imprisonment, hunger strikes and years on the run until a negotiated settlement allowed for an uneasy peace. A degree of self-rule for the six counties, a continuation of partition and the promise of stepping-stones to ultimate Irish freedom silenced the guns. Whether these stepping stones will go the way of those of Michael Collins and later those of Éamon de Valera, only time will tell.


An American general once memorably reminded his people ‘Freedom is not for free, somebody has paid the price’. And so it is in Ireland. In the pages that follow are the stories of these men of Kerry who paid the ultimate price for our freedom.


The sacrifices of these men are as great, and often greater, than those patriots whose memory is preserved in the national narrative. Each of these fallen soldiers was an individual with his own unique story and this book tries to portray each man as such. Some fell in action with their comrades and others shared their last moments with other Volunteers, dying together in captivity. As a result there is, of necessity, a degree of repetition in many of the brief stories of these men’s lives and deaths.


Those who died for ‘The Cause’ in Kerry are sometimes remembered by written words and more often by ever-fading oral narratives. Most are also remembered by more permanent memorials, whether a headstone or a monument at the site where they fell. On such stone testaments the dead are often recalled by the names being inscribed in their native language. This is often in the old Gaelic script and in the text of this book these Gaelic spellings are also recorded under the more anglicised form of their names. Thus it is hoped that future generations will be able to link the inscriptions on such monuments and gravestones to the stories which are preserved in this book.


Ná déan dearmad and bí bródúil astu, agus ‘Beidh Éire fós ag Cáit Ní Dhuibhir’.
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1st and 9th (Tralee) Battalions,


Kerry No. 1 Brigade






The Irish Volunteers were established in Tralee on 10 December 1913 during a meeting of the weekly Gaelic League class. Matthew McMahon of Urban Terrace, Boherbue, had been at the inaugural meeting of the Volunteers at the Rotunda in Dublin fifteen days previously and at his instigation a company was formed in Tralee. Tralee had a been a centre of IRB activity in the preceding years and within a short time the Brotherhood had gained prominent positions within the fledgling Volunteer movement. Austin Stack, the head of the IRB, was appointed O/C of the Tralee Volunteers and Alf Cotton, a civil servant and fellow IRB member, was his deputy. In March 1916, weeks before the Rising, Cotton was expelled from Kerry by the authorities and Paddy Cahill became the second in command. Though well organised and drilled before the Rising, the unexpected arrival of Casement at Banna, the premature arrival and subsequent capture and scuttling of the arms ship Aud, and the arrest of Stack on Good Friday threw plans for a rising in Kerry into chaos. Within days, all senior members of the Irish Volunteers were under arrest and it would not be until 1917 that the movement would attempt to resurrect itself in Tralee.


During 1917 the Tralee Volunteers began reorganising, arms were collected and recruitment and drilling continued. Austin Stack remained O/C of the battalion and also the leader of the Irish Volunteers in the county. Paddy Cahill was V/C and Dan Sullivan, the chairman of the Tralee Urban Council, was the battalion adjutant. Billy Mullins served as the quartermaster. The election of 1918 resulted in Austin Stack being appointed Minister for Home Affairs in the first Dáil and following his departure to Dublin in January 1919, Cahill became the battalion O/C and Joe Melinn his deputy.


In the spring of 1919 the single Kerry Irish Volunteer command was divided into three brigades. Paddy Cahill, who had been O/C of the original Kerry Brigade and also of the Tralee (1st) Battalion, now became O/C of Kerry No. 1 Brigade, which consisted of the Tralee, North and West Kerry Battalions. The Tralee Battalion was composed of companies from Boherbue, Rock Street, Strand Street, Farmer’s Bridge, Ballyroe, Oakpark, Blennerville and Curraheen. Several of Cahill’s staff from Tralee joined him in the new brigade staff and as a result a new leadership was appointed to the 1st Battalion. Dan Healy was appointed battalion O/C with Michael Doyle as his deputy. Michael Fleming of Gas Terrace was the battalion adjutant and Paddy Barry of Rock Street was the new quartermaster, with Thomas Foley being appointed the intelligence officer.


On the orders of GHQ, following the death of Terence MacSwiney on hunger strike, the IRA was to engage the crown forces wherever they could be encountered during the last week of October 1920. The killing of several RIC men in North Kerry brought about a dramatic escalation of the conflict that forced Paddy Cahill and other active IRA men in his Tralee command to go into hiding. They set up a brigade headquarters at Fybough, near Keel, seventeen miles by road from Tralee. In this remote location Cahill also located his brigade active service unit, which was mainly composed of Tralee IRA Volunteers who could not return to the town. The exodus of so many fighting men hampered the activity of what remained of the 1st Battalion in Tralee. However, in March 1921 Brigade Adjutant Paddy Garvey was detailed to set up a battalion active service unit within the town. This was commanded by the ‘A’ Company officer, Captain John Joe Sheehy, and was composed of IRA Volunteers still living in Tralee. This battalion unit was soon taking the fight to the local RIC and Auxiliaries. Their most notable successes were the killings of Auxiliary commander Major John McKinnon on 15 April and Head Constable Francis Benson on 14 May 1921. By this time Paddy Cahill had been relieved of his command by GHQ, who had judged him to be ineffectual as a military leader.


While Cahill’s military leadership of the brigade could certainly be questioned, there was no doubt that he was a popular figure with many of the fighting men. He had a loyal following within the brigade staff and especially within the Strand Street area of Tralee in which ‘B’ Company was based, the district of Tralee where Cahill was from. His second in command, Tadhg Brosnan, refused to become the Kerry No. 1 Brigade O/C such was his loyalty to Cahill, with the result that GHQ was obliged to appoint Andy Cooney, an organiser who had been operating in South Kerry, as brigade commander. While Cahill withdrew from his position, his staff were defiant and refused to cooperate with Cooney in an attempt to isolate the new brigade O/C. Cooney’s orders were ignored, especially by ‘B’ Company. However, within the town John Joe Sheehy’s active service unit was now waging the fight against the crown forces and this unit remained aloof from the Cahill controversy. Dan Healy’s command as O/C of the Tralee-based 1st Battalion was transferred to Sheehy, though Cahill loyalists within the town refused to accept his leadership and they remained outside the battalion structure.


This situation whereby a significant section of the town’s IRA Volunteers refused to accept the command of the local 1st Battalion was to remain a source of contention for nearly fourteen months. Eventually IRA Chief of Staff Liam Lynch brokered a deal in the summer of 1922 whereby the Cahill loyalists would form a separate battalion in the Tralee district and this was to be termed the 9th Battalion. This new battalion was composed of companies from Strand Street, Blennerville, Ballyroe, Churchill and Curraheen. Its O/C was Paddy Paul Fitzgerald and in theory it was not to be under the direct command of the brigade O/C, who by that time was Humphrey Murphy. However, although the outbreak of Civil War saw both the 1st and 9th Battalions united in their opposition to the Treaty, the personality differences that arose from GHQ’s ill-considered removal of Paddy Cahill remained simmering under the surface until well after the war ended.


Following the withdrawal of the British Army in January 1922, the 1st Battalion used its barracks in Ballymullen as their new headquarters. The outbreak of the Civil War saw many of the town’s experienced fighters in action in the Limerick and Tipperary area, but the Free State’s seaborne invasion at Fenit on 2 August 1922 caught the battalion unaware, as most of the active Volunteers were engaged in the faltering defence of the Limerick to Waterford line. After some bloody fighting, General Paddy Daly and his Dublin Guard captured Tralee on that summer’s day and went on to establish garrisons in the towns of Kerry. However, the rural areas remained in Republican hands and within days Sheehy’s battalion was waging a guerrilla war against the Free State Army, which had its headquarters in Ballymullen Barracks. The next nine months of fighting would see the deaths of many of the 1st and 9th Battalion’s Volunteers, some of whom would be summarily executed following capture. Others would die in captivity due to poor prison conditions, while hundreds were interned in prison camps in the Curragh, Newbridge and Gormanston, and in Mountjoy and Limerick Gaols and women’s prisons at the South Dublin Union and Kilmainham Gaol. The suffering of the bereaved, imprisoned, exiled and brutalised unfortunately cannot be measured, but the following pages contain the stories of those of the Tralee battalions who paid the ultimate price in the search for an independent Irish Republic.












John Conway


Seán Ó Conbuiḋe


John ‘Sonny’ Conway was born in Abbey Street, Tralee, in 1894 into a large family. His younger brother, Dan Joe, gained fame as an All-Ireland-winning Kerry footballer. John, like his father, worked as a general labourer. He was married and lived at 61 Caherina, Strand Street, Tralee. As a young man he had emigrated to the United States and had enlisted in the American Army under the name John Rundle.1 During the Great War he served with the American forces in Europe. On demobilisation following the end of the war he returned to Tralee. On doing so, he joined the Irish Volunteers in the town. Conway was attached to ‘A’ Company, 1st Battalion, Kerry No. 1 Brigade and later was part of the 9th Battalion formed in 1922.


In February 1923 he was in custody in what was called the Workhouse Barracks in Tralee. This was the town’s workhouse, which had been occupied by the Free State Army to be used as a barracks to supplement their main garrison in Ballymullen and is now the County Council offices. Free State Army reports at the time of the inquest into John Conway’s death indicate that he was a civilian prisoner when he was killed. However, the IRA lists him amongst those Volunteers killed during the Civil War. While his status as a prisoner may be in doubt, the circumstances of his death are not.


On 24 February 1923 Captain Patrick Byrne shot John Conway dead while a prisoner in the barracks.2 Byrne was an officer in the Dublin Guard and was from Gardiner Street in Dublin. Conway was brought by the officer to a place on the main road opposite the town’s Rath Cemetery. There he was shot. Initially the Free State officer claimed that he had shot the prisoner as he was attempting to escape, but later confessed that he had summarily executed him for no apparent reason.


A coroner’s court investigated the death in custody of John Conway and the medical evidence revealed that he had been shot six times and died as a result of shock and haemorrhage. General Paddy Daly gave evidence at the inquest and said that Byrne had confessed to him that he had shot the prisoner and that he could give no explanation for the killing. Daly said that he had known Byrne for fifteen years and that the officer had fought in the Tan War. Daly went on to say that Captain Byrne had been captured and badly beaten by the IRA some months previously. He gave evidence that his mind had become ‘unhinged’ as a result and that he had attempted suicide. Despite his unstable character Byrne was left on active duty in the barracks. The court held that Captain Patrick Byrne was responsible for the killing, but General Daly’s evidence ensured that he was not held accountable.


John Conway was buried in the family grave in Rath Cemetery, Tralee and his name is inscribed on the Republican monument there.












Daniel Daly


Doṁnall Ó Dálaiġ1


Dan Daly was thirty-seven when he was shot dead by Free State forces near Tralee’s railway station. He was a native of Killorglin and was employed by the Great Southern and Western Railway in Tralee. He joined the company as an engine fireman and when single he lived in Rock Street in Tralee, close to the station. He was promoted to the position of engine driver and drove trains on the rail network in the Tralee area, which was then far more extensive than now. By 1923 he was married to Julia O’Connor, whose family had a business in Upper Bridge Street in Killorglin. The couple had five children and were expecting a sixth child when he was killed.2


While in Tralee Dan enlisted in the 1st Battalion of the Irish Volunteers and played an active part in the conflict with the crown forces in his adopted town. In July 1920 he used his train to carry a detachment of his fellow Tralee Volunteers for a surprise attack on the British Army post in the Tralee railway station. Daly and his engine fireman, named Mulchinock, stopped their train at Ballyroe as it was coming to Tralee from Fenit. There they allowed a large contingent of IRA Volunteers to board. The train then arrived shortly afterwards on the lightly guarded platform at Tralee. The Volunteers got off and quickly disarmed the surprised British Army picket who had a post at the station. The military offered no resistance and the IRA unit disarmed the soldiers and escaped with a valuable haul of Lee Enfield rifles.


During the Civil War, on the evening of 23 January 1923, several armed men left the Free State barracks which was situated in Tralee’s workhouse. Arriving near the house in Railway Terrace where Dan was living, they waited on the street outside. Dan Lynch of Cork, a colleague of Dan Daly’s at the nearby railway station, arrived at the house as he and Dan Daly were to go together to the local Dominican church for the devotions which were held nightly at 7.30 p.m. Lynch told Daly of the five men in trench coats who were loitering outside the house but Daly was not worried by their presence. When the two railway workers left together to go to the church, the men in the trench coats had already departed from outside Daly’s house. Daly and Lynch proceeded down to the top of Edward Street, passing the station as they walked. Further down this street, Lynch saw a group of men whom he presumed were the same men who had been lingering outside Daly’s home a few minutes earlier. He advised Daly to proceed to the Dominican church through Nelson Street, which is now Ashe Street, thus avoiding the men who had been acting suspiciously. However, Daly was curious and opted to continue down Edward Street where the men were now standing. As Daly and Lynch walked along the path, a man came running down the street and crossed over to where Daly and Lynch were. He stopped and asked Daly to identify himself and when he revealed his name the stranger pulled a gun from his coat and shot Daly at point blank range. The wounded Daly slumped on his companion, whereupon the attacker fired five or six more shots, wounding Lynch in the process. The shooter then ran up Edward Street towards the railway station and into the night.


Lynch managed to carry his seriously wounded friend up to the railway station where some Free State soldiers placed him in a waiting room and called the military doctor. Dr George O’Riordan arrived while Daly was still conscious and asked him if he had recognised his attacker. Daly said that he had not seen him before and then drifted into unconsciousness, dying from his wounds minutes later.


A few days before this incident the IRA had issued a proclamation warning against the use of the railways in support of the Free State war effort. It was assumed by the public that it was the IRA that shot the men for a breach of this instruction. However, an inquest was held two days later, on 25 January, at which the Free State O/C Paddy Daly made an unexpected appearance. He testified that shortly after midnight on the day before the shooting four Republicans had been arrested and they had two documents in their possession. General Daly stated that these papers implicated Dan Daly in a plot to disable railway engines, to kidnap a Free State officer and to participate in an attack on soldiers at the station. General Daly made no apology for the summary execution of Dan Daly and the wounding of Dan Lynch near Tralee’s railway station on 23 January 1923.3 The inquest jury brought in a verdict of the wilful killing of Dan Daly by persons unknown.


Thirty-seven-year-old Dan Daly was buried in the family grave at Dromavalla Cemetery in his native Killorglin and was survived by his wife, Julia, and five young children. Mrs Daly subsequently lost the child that she was pregnant with following her husband’s murder. Dan Daly’s widow and family lived in the railway houses on School Road in Killorglin.












Thomas Drummond


Tomás Ó Droma1


The Drummond family were millers and had come to Tralee to work in the large O’Donovan’s Mills in the town. Thomas was born in Tipperary before his family moved to Charleville and eventually to Tralee. The family originally lived in Church Lane and by 1920 Thomas Drummond was living at 32 Rae Street, in the Strand Street area of Tralee. He and his wife, Mary (Mae), had four children.2 He was a member of ‘D’ Company, 1st Battalion and had joined the Irish Volunteers in 1916.3


Following the capture of Tralee by Free State forces on 2 August 1922, IRA Volunteer Thomas Drummond was arrested as he was a known Republican. With many other prisoners, he was being held in the Free State Army’s headquarters in Ballymullen Barracks on the outskirts of Tralee. The barracks was a large fortified complex surrounded by a high wall and had been the headquarters of the Royal Munster Fusiliers before February 1922.


At 4 a.m. on 22 August, IRA Volunteers lay waiting near the gate of the army barracks in the expectation that a Free State detachment would leave on an early morning patrol. The attack force consisted of a large number of men, including Johnny O’Connor, who manned his machine gun set up in the large Castlemorris House which was adjacent to the barracks. Con Casey and William ‘Duffer’ Tangney were also part of the IRA force. When the sounds of men mobilising were heard just inside the gate, the Republican Volunteers outside assumed that this was the enemy patrol about to emerge. Grenades were lobbed over the wall and this was followed by sustained gunfire.4 According to Free State reports the movements near the gate were in fact soldiers gathering Republican prisoners for the short march to Ballymullen Gaol, a few hundred yards away. However, Republicans claimed that the Free State patrol had hostages with them and they were unaware of this when they commenced their attack. Shrapnel from the exploding grenades fatally injured Thomas Drummond and he died in hospital two days later. A Free State soldier, Private Galworthy of County Galway, died on the same day as a result of the injuries he sustained in the attack. Several other prisoners were also wounded but all survived. Failing to press home the element of surprise following the initial explosions, the IRA force retreated intact to the Farmer’s Bridge area, two miles outside the town.


Thomas Drummond is buried in the family grave in Rath Cemetery, Tralee, where his name is inscribed on the Republican Plot memorial. His widow, Mae, with whom he is buried, died in 1977.












Eugene Fitzgerald


Eoġan Mac Gearailt


The Fitzgerald family originally lived in Castle Street, Tralee, but later moved to Rock Street. Eugene and his older brother Anthony were initially members of Na Fianna Éireann, but later joined ‘D’ Company of the Irish Volunteers in the town’s 1st Battalion, Kerry No. 1 Brigade. Na Fianna, a Republican youth organisation, provided valuable support for the active service units of the IRA. Chief among their duties was the gathering of intelligence and the monitoring of enemy movements.


At the outset of the Civil War, Eugene was in the IRA force that captured the town of Listowel from its Free State garrison. His unit then advanced to Limerick. He was involved in actions in Kilmallock and Bruree. Following the defeat of Republican forces there, he returned to Kerry.1 Anthony was arrested when the Free State Army captured Tralee on 2 August 1922. Eugene continued on active service and because his home was raided on several occasions he went ‘on the run’. He frequently stayed with his aunt at Carrahane, near Banna, two miles from Ardfert.


On 16 January 1923, late in the night, a Free State search party swooped on his aunt’s house at Carrahane and arrested Eugene Fitzgerald. That day they had reportedly discovered several unoccupied dugouts in the Ardfert area and suspected that there was an IRA column in the vicinity. Fitzgerald was taken in a military lorry to the nearby beach and there he was tortured in order to make him divulge information on local IRA active service units. His captors broke his left arm. Having failed to provide any information, the prisoner was taken from the strand and put back into the lorry. A mile further along the road from Carrahane townland, while travelling towards Ardfert village, the Free State lorry stopped. Whether by coincidence or design, they halted beside McKenna’s Fort, a large ring fort where Roger Casement was captured on Good Friday 1916. Fitzgerald was thrown on the roadside and, still refusing to give information, he was shot and severely wounded. The soldiers argued amongst themselves as to what to do with their gravely wounded prisoner. Rather than shoot him again, he was put back in the lorry and brought to Ballymullen Barracks.2


Initially Eugene Fitzgerald’s parents were refused admission to see their dying son, but eventually his mother was allowed a short visit on 20 January. At this time he had spent four days in captivity in the barracks hospital. At that brief meeting her son related to his mother the details of his capture and torture. Two days later he succumbed to his wounds as Mrs Fitzgerald waited in vain at the barracks gate, having been denied permission to visit him a second time.


Eugene Fitzgerald, aged twenty, was buried in a family grave in Rath Cemetery, Tralee. His name is inscribed on the Republican monument in the graveyard. A traditional white roadside cross marks the spot where he was fatally wounded by Free State soldiers at the entrance to McKenna’s Fort near Ardfert village.












Jackie Fleming


Seán Pleamonn


John Joseph (Jackie) Fleming was born in Gas Terrace, Tralee on 16 May 1893. His father, John Fleming, had a painting business in the town. The Fleming family were steeped in the Republican tradition. On Easter Saturday 1916, as Roger Casement was being taken up Nelson Street by several RIC men to the railway station to be transferred to captivity in London, John Fleming played Republican tunes on his whistle as he sat on the roof of one of Nelson Street’s shops.1 It was no surprise that his sons were active Volunteers in the IRA. Jackie’s older brother, Michael (Mick), was an officer in the Rock Street (‘D’) Company of the 1st Battalion, Kerry No. 1 Brigade. Jackie himself was also active in the Tan War, having joined Na Fianna in 1914. He was a piper in the Volunteer Pipe Band and was trained as the first aid officer of the battalion.


His brother Mick, though sympathetic to the Republican cause, did not take an active part in the Civil War, but his sister May, an active member of Cumann na mBan, was imprisoned in Kilmainham Gaol, having been brought there from Kerry by boat in November 1922. The exact position that Jackie took in the conflict was not evident to the Free State Army in Tralee, although he was a member of the Tralee-based 9th Battalion and was later recorded as a Volunteer in the battalion’s active service unit.2 Much of what is known about Jackie Fleming’s final days comes from a revealing interview that fellow Tralee man Bill Bailey, who was a soldier in the Free State Army, gave to Ernie O’Malley in the late 1940s.3


Bailey records that Jackie Fleming’s role in the IRA was that of a ‘Red Cross man’ and that he was not a fighter on active service. In March 1923 Fleming was unsure whether he was wanted by the Free State Army and so presented himself to David Neligan, the intelligence chief of the Dublin Guard. Neligan accused him of having been observed carrying a weapon and also said that he had information that Fleming acted as a Republican sentry on a bridge near Tralee, possibly Blennerville Bridge. Neligan ordered him to retrieve the weapon and to present it to him in Ballymullen Barracks a few days later. After a week, Jackie Fleming asked Bill Bailey to accompany him to the barracks again. However, shortly beforehand he decided that he would not present himself as ordered, fearing what might happen if he were to appear without the rifle that he was supposed to have had. As the Civil War progressed, Ballymullen Barracks, and David Neligan in particular, gained reputations for the excessive brutality exacted on the prisoners there. Earlier in the month of March, Neligan and other senior officers had been complicit in the Ballyseedy massacre. As Fleming had failed to appear as arranged, Neligan sent Bailey out with a search party to arrest him. However, Bailey and his patrol didn’t manage to locate him. Later that evening, 28 March 1923, Jackie Fleming was arrested by two other Free State soldiers and brought to the guardroom of Ballymullen Barracks.


Bailey had been with another detachment of Free State soldiers and had just returned to the other army barracks which was situated in the town’s workhouse, a mile away. This is now the Kerry County Council Building at Manor. From there Bailey recalled that he heard shots in the distance. A short time later an officer came in and said that a man had been shot on the Workhouse (now Killerisk) Road, which led southwards to Ballymullen Barracks a mile away. Apparently at a point midway between the two Free State barracks, Jackie Fleming was shot in the head as an officer named McAuliffe was bringing him to the Workhouse Barracks. Today a roadside memorial marks the site of the shooting.


Fleming was put in a makeshift coffin and the journey to the Workhouse Barracks was continued. However, the sentry there would not admit the soldiers and their prisoner, who was apparently lifeless. As a result, the Free State detachment had to return to Ballymullen Barracks, bringing Fleming’s body with them. There Paddy Daly, the Free State O/C, signed a warrant ordering the coffin to be admitted to the Workhouse Barracks. Bailey grimly reported that his fellow soldiers were alarmed as Fleming was still alive despite his gunshot wounds. However, he died later that night and was buried in the workhouse cemetery. His remains were reinterred in the Republican Plot of Rath Cemetery following the Civil War, on 29 April 1924.












Michael Flynn


Míċeál Ó Floinn


Michael Flynn, who was known as Mickey Joe Flynn, was born in Spa Road, Tralee, on 10 September 1893. His family had a long Republican tradition as his grandfather was the head centre of the Fenian movement in the town during the 1860s. Mickey Flynn fought in the ranks of ‘B’ Company, 1st Battalion, Kerry No. 1 Brigade during the Tan War, having joined the Irish Volunteers on their foundation in the town in 1913.1 When Brigade O/C Paddy Cahill was relieved of this command by GHQ in March 1921, many of the Volunteers in Tralee refused to accept the authority of his replacement. As a compromise, in July 1922, a new 9th Battalion was formed under the leadership of Paddy Paul Fitzgerald, Cahill’s ally. This battalion drew its men from the Strand Street area of the town and from the Fenit and Spa districts to the north and out to Derrymore in the west. During the Civil War Mickey Flynn was a Volunteer in this 9th Battalion.


Following the capture of Tralee by Free State forces in August 1922, the active Volunteers of the 9th Battalion formed a column which was based in the area to the west of the town in the foothills of the Sliabh Mish Mountains. Deep within the high mountains lies the long and narrow Derrymore Glen and in the safety of this cliff-lined valley the Republican unit had their base, which they called ‘the hut’. From there they harassed the Free State forces that garrisoned Tralee. This mountainous area was well known to the men who had fought with Cahill in the Tan War, as it was on the southern side of Sliabh Mish that Cahill had his brigade command headquarters.


On 17 November 1922 a large contingent of Free State forces carried out a sweep of the Derrymore area in the hope of capturing the 9th Battalion column. Spotting some IRA Volunteers near the entrance of Derrymore Glen, the troops gave chase. Tim Quirke, a local Volunteer and a sheep farmer who was with Flynn, escaped by following the rock-strewn river on the valley floor, knowing that its twists and high banks would give him cover from the bullets as he retreated to the safety of higher ground. Flynn, a native of the town, opted to try to reach the shelter of the glen by taking the shortest route, which involved crossing open moorland. This was a fatal error, as Flynn was taken prisoner as he attempted to cross the exposed barren mountainside. Tim Quirke made good his escape into the mountains he knew so well.2


Mickey Joe Flynn was brought down to near where the Derrymore river is crossed by the main Dingle road. There Jack Flavin, a Tralee-born Free State officer and a member of what was termed ‘The Dandy Six’, shot him dead in cold blood. ‘The Dandy Six’ were a group of former IRA Volunteers who had accepted the Treaty and, departing from Tralee at the outset of the Civil War, joined the Free State Army. They were attached to the 1st Western Division. The members’ notoriety arose from the fact that they could identify their former comrades, something the officers of the Dublin Guard and 1st Western Division of the Free State Army could not do. It would seem probable that Flynn refused to give information about the whereabouts of his comrades and this sealed his fate.


Michael Flynn’s body was brought to a nearby house owned by another Quirke family and a wake was held there. The next day two women, who came to the scene in an attempt to contact the IRA column, were fired upon by Free State soldiers who were still searching the area for other members of the Republican column.3


Mickey Joe Flynn’s remains were refused entry to the parish church and his family were denied permission to bury him in the family plot in the town’s cemetery. The local clergy were forbidden by Bishop Charles O’Sullivan to offer prayers for the repose of the dead man. However in 1923, after the ceasefire, his coffin and that of Billy Myles were disinterred and brought to St John’s church. There the funeral mass was celebrated and the remains of both men were subsequently reinterred in the Republican Plot in Rath Cemetery, Tralee. Today his sacrifice is recalled by a housing estate in his native Spa Road, Tralee, named in his honour. A monument now stands at Derrymore Bridge on which are inscribed the names of Michael Flynn and the other fallen Volunteers from the 1st and 9th Battalions. This monument was unveiled in March 1933 by John Joe Rice, O/C of Kerry No. 2 Brigade, and today is cared for by the Quirke family whose father was with Michael Flynn on that fateful day in 1922. Volunteer Michael Flynn’s name is also inscribed on a similar memorial at Churchill near Fenit.












Tom Flynn


Tomás Ó Floinn


Thomas Flynn was a native of Kilfenora, a townland between The Spa and Fenit. He was born on 9 January 1897, the son of John Flynn and Helen Moriarty. His father, a labourer, died while Tom was still a young boy.


Tom enlisted in the Irish Volunteers and held the rank of adjutant in the Churchill or ‘D’ Company of the 2nd Battalion, Kerry No. 1 Brigade. His captain was Jim Walsh of nearby Lisodigue, who also lost his life in the Civil War. In the summer of 1921 this company was transferred to the 9th Battalion of the brigade and Tom Flynn retained his rank until his death in action.


On 2 August 1922 the Dublin Guard of the Free State Army arrived unexpectedly in Fenit Harbour on board the Lady Wicklow and hurriedly disembarked. The Republican contingency plan was to explode mines attached to the long wooden pier in the event of such a landing. However, the wires to the explosives had been cut by local men without the knowledge of the small IRA garrison whose task it was to defend the port from a Free State invasion. As a result, the landing of 450 Free State soldiers, their armoured car and field artillery was almost unopposed. The greatly outnumbered Republican forces retreated, some northwards towards Barrow, and the remainder, including Tom Flynn, along the road to Tralee, fighting a rearguard action as they went. A section of IRA Volunteers came from Tralee and attempted to halt the rapid advance by establishing a firing position on the summit of the large limestone hillock named Sammy’s Rock, which holds a commanding view of the road from Fenit as it passes near Kilfenora. Under intense gunfire, and in danger of being outflanked, these IRA men were quickly forced to abandon the hilltop, leaving Volunteer John O’Sullivan dead on the rocky slope. The Republicans retreated in disarray to the small village of The Spa, a mile away.


Paddy Paul Fitzgerald was O/C of the 9th Battalion of the Kerry No. 1 Brigade, and he and Tom Flynn went into Dan Lyons’ bar in The Spa and then out the back door in an attempt to escape from the rapidly advancing Free State forces. Their aim was to get to the beach that lay behind the pub and from there travel to Tralee along the shore. This was a more direct route than the now dangerous road. Unknown to the two men, Free State soldiers had entered Kent Lodge, a large house further to the west which had a commanding view of the sandy shore. Another detachment of soldiers was in the village and they could also see the men on the beach. Shots were aimed at the two fleeing Volunteers, who replied with rifle fire. However, in their exposed position on the shore, Tom Flynn was shot dead and Paddy Paul Fitzgerald was quickly captured.1


Lieutenant Tom Flynn was buried in the family plot in Churchill Cemetery near to his home. Today he is commemorated by a well-tended white roadside cross at The Spa, adjacent to the shoreline at Seafield where he was killed. His memory is also recalled on the battalion monument at nearby Churchill, which was unveiled on 5 March 1933, and on the monument at Derrymore.












Daniel Foley


Doṁnall Ó Foġluḋa1


Daniel and Johanna Foley lived in the townland of Ahane in Glencar, where they farmed the mountain soil to support their family. As there were many families with the surname in the area, Dan Foley’s family were known as the Bán Foleys. They had four children, Bridget (Delia), John (1902), Timothy (1904) and Daniel (1905). Johanna Foley died of a vascular complication while pregnant with a fifth child and subsequently her husband was unable to maintain the farm and may have gone to work in a bakery in nearby Killorglin. John, Tim and Dan were sent to live in an orphanage in Killarney and their sister was sent to a different institution where she had an aunt who was a nun. Later, when a little older, the three boys were transferred to the care of the Christian Brothers at Balloonagh, Tralee, where they lived in the order’s orphanage and learned a trade in the St Joseph’s Industrial School.2


The Irish nationalist ethos of the Christian Brothers was probably very influential on the three boys, as all became involved in the Republican movement. Dan was recorded as having joined Na Fianna in 1918. His brothers John and Tim, being older, were members of the IRA during the Tan War.


Dan Foley’s Republican activities came to the attention of the Free State forces occupying Tralee in 1922. He was arrested on 29 November 1922 and subsequently interned, though the circumstances relating to his capture and imprisonment are not recorded. He was living in 24 Nelson Street, now Ashe Street, in Tralee.3 This area of Upper Ashe Street was noted for the number of active members of Na Fianna who lived there, including Percy Hannafin who was killed in action and Patrick ‘Belty’ Williams.


As with other Kerry Republican prisoners, he would have initially been brought to Ballymullen Barracks and held in a barbed wire compound in the large former British Army barracks. Subsequently, most of these captives were transferred to the Curragh Camp in Kildare, where they joined thousands of other internees and sentenced prisoners. The conditions of captivity were harsh and the medical facilities offered by the Free State Army to their prisoners were rudimentary. Young Dan Foley’s health began to fail as a result of the conditions of his incarceration. He was admitted to the military hospital suffering from tuberculosis and died from complications of the disease on 25 January 1923. When a list of the IRA casualties of Kerry No. 1 Brigade was compiled in 1958 for inclusion on the Ballyseedy memorial, it was noted that the remains of Dan Foley were still buried in his place of detention in the Curragh. And so the grave of this young Kerry orphan remained unmarked and unremembered far from his native county. However, in October 2014 his exact burial place was finally discovered. Following his death Foley’s remains had been brought from the Curragh Military Hospital to the nearby town of Newbridge. There, on 30 January 1923, he was buried in what was termed a ‘free plot’ or pauper’s grave in St Conleth’s Cemetery. His death certificate describes him as political prisoner.4


Dan’s brother Tim returned to the Glencar area when he left St Joseph’s Industrial School in Tralee. He was a Volunteer in the Glencar Company of the 6th Battalion and was wounded in action. Tim Foley was captured during the Civil War and like Dan, he was incarcerated in the Curragh, but survived the ordeal to join the thousands of Republican fighters forced into exile in the United States in the post-Civil War period.5


As Volunteer Dan Foley had died for the cause of Ireland’s freedom, his comrades in the Kerry No. 1 Brigade inscribed his name on their roll of honour on the brigade’s memorial at Ballyseedy. His name, in Irish, is also on the monument at the Republican Plot in Tralee’s Rath Cemetery, where it notes that he was buried elsewhere. As Dan Foley was a native of Glencar, the committee who organised the erection of the Republican monument in Cahersiveen also included his name amongst the dead of the Iveragh Peninsula and the Kerry No. 3 Brigade area. Following the recent identification of his grave, it is planned to erect a fitting memorial at the site.












Patrick (Percy) Hannafin


Pádruig Ó hAinifín


Patrick Hannafin was born in Nelson Street, now Ashe Street, Tralee, in 1902. His father was a commercial agent for a sugar company and Percy, as he was nicknamed, was the second eldest in a large family. He was an active Republican from an early age and served as the Kerry No. 1 Brigade adjutant of Na Fianna in the Tan War. He was noted by his comrades as having a flare for organising.


At 5 p.m. on Friday 20 January 1922, during the Truce, Percy Hannafin and two comrades, Pat ‘Belty’ Williams and Mick Mullaly, attempted to seize a military vehicle which contained provisions. They intended to drive this to the IRA training camp which was located in Ardfert. Such an undertaking was in violation of the Truce that had been in force since 11 July 1921, but the unplanned opportunity presented itself when the three Volunteers saw a military lorry parked in Edward Street, Tralee. The vehicle was stopped at Benner’s Garage, which was situated across the street from the town’s post office. The driver had remained in the vehicle while his companions had gone into the garage. The Volunteers planned to take the driver hostage and force him at gunpoint to drive the lorry out of town where they would free him. However, the hastily conceived plan went awry. The surprised driver was ordered out of the vehicle but his predicament was observed by his two fellow Black and Tans from within the garage. They opened fire on the three Volunteers. Percy Hannafin was hit in the head and left arm. Mick Mullaly was fortunate to be only lightly wounded when a ricochet bullet went up his nose and into his mouth. The driver was severely wounded in the legs by the gunfire of his comrades.


The IRA Volunteers managed to escape, taking the seriously injured Hannafin with them. He was brought to the Bon Secours Hospital in Strand Street. The Tans took their wounded comrade away in his vehicle. For three hours that evening the crown forces went on the rampage in the town. Gun battles were fought on the streets between mobilised IRA units and the Tans seeking vengeance. With the arrival of the regular British Army on the streets, the confrontation was defused. The Republican authorities apologised for the breach in the Truce but refused a demand to surrender Hannafin, Mullaly and Williams.1


The next morning the gravely ill Percy Hannafin, his brothers, Michael and Jerry, and Pat ‘Belty’ Williams were brought by brigade transport officer, Tim Leahy, to the Mercy Hospital in Cork city. However, Percy Hannafin failed to recover from his injuries and he died on 27 January 1922 with his brothers and Williams at his bedside.


His remains were brought back to Tralee, the journey taking seven hours due to flooding and ceaseless rain. After requiem mass on Sunday 29 January, Percy Hannafin was buried in the family plot in Rath Cemetery. The remains were followed to the town’s graveyard by a very large cortège in which an estimated 800 IRA Volunteers participated. A firing party of his comrades in Na Fianna fired three volleys of shots over the grave.2 Today he is remembered by a memorial plaque on the wall of the laneway which is named Percy Hannafin Way in his honour. This small lane joins Edward Street, where he was fatally wounded, to Ashe Street, where he lived during his short life.












William Harrington


Liam Ó hArraċtáin1


Friday 8 December 1922 will always be remembered as the day the Free State government executed four senior Republican leaders in Mountjoy Gaol: Liam Mellows, Dick Barrett, Joe McKelvey and Rory O’Connor. They were shot in that Dublin prison yard without recourse to any semblance of justice. On the same day in Tralee, unarmed Republican William Harrington was also shot dead by Free State forces.


The Feast of the Immaculate Conception traditionally marks the beginning of the Christmas period and in the parish of Tralee, then as now, a bazaar was held to raise funds for the local Catholic church. In 1922 this gathering was held in The Rink, a large hall on Basin Road which has now been demolished and replaced by housing. Today the site of the building, which had been used as a skating rink, is marked by a plaque, as it was there that the Volunteers mustered at Easter 1916.


The parish bazaar, an important event in the parish calendar, was attended by hundreds of people. It may have been that some of the money raised would have gone towards supporting the dependants of the many political prisoners from the parish. A five-man party of Free State soldiers went to The Rink that evening and these included some ‘red caps’ or military policemen. On entering the hall, the Free State soldiers drew their pistols and fired over the heads of the large attendance, apparently without provocation. This caused panic amongst the crowd. William Harrington, an IRA Volunteer from nearby Strand Street, was in attendance and he remonstrated with their officer, Lieutenant Joseph Parsons. He protested about the recklessness and provocative behaviour of the soldiers, whereupon Parsons shot Harrington dead in front of hundreds of witnesses.2


The callousness of the murder was such that an inquiry was held and although Parsons denied discharging his pistol, the evidence of the witnesses caused the presiding judge to conclude that the killing was malicious. However, no action was taken against Lieutenant Parsons or the soldiers he commanded that evening.


William Harrington was twenty-three years old when he was killed and had worked as a builder’s labourer. He was the only child of a widow.


Though not killed on active service, William Harrington’s name is inscribed on the Republican memorial in Rath Cemetery, Tralee. He is buried in the family plot in the graveyard. He was a member of ‘D’ Company, 1st Battalion, and had been in the Irish Volunteers since 1916.












Tommy Hawley


Tomás Ó hAllaiḋe


Thomas Hawley was born in McCowen’s Lane, off Edward Street, Tralee, in 1897. His father, William Hawley, later moved his family to the nearby Pound Lane, off what is now Ashe Street. Young Tommy enrolled in Na Fianna shortly after its formation in the town and later joined the Irish Volunteers, where he held the rank of section leader in ‘A’ Company of the 1st Battalion, Kerry No. 1 Brigade.1


Following the death of Terence MacSwiney on hunger strike on 25 October 1920, a general order came from GHQ stating that the crown forces were to be engaged wherever they were encountered. Throughout the Kerry No. 1 Brigade area the following weekend and during the first week in November, there were numerous attacks on RIC targets resulting in several fatalities, including the capture and killing of two RIC constables in Tralee town. This provoked swift retaliation by the crown forces and resulted in most of the active Volunteers in the town leaving their homes to seek shelter in the townland of Fybough on the south side of the Dingle Peninsula. There Tralee man Paddy Cahill, the brigade O/C, established an elaborate headquarters hidden behind a large rock on the mountain slopes. The twenty or so men who were billeted there became the flying column of the Kerry No. 1 Brigade and among its members was Tommy Hawley.


During the spring of 1921 this column became increasingly active and Paddy Cahill decided to attack a British patrol at Lispole on Sunday 20 March. A military convoy passed through the small village each Sunday at 2 p.m., coming from Dingle, five miles away. Cahill and his column, supported by the local IRA companies, took up position at midday on that Sunday, unaware that the convoy was not due to travel to Lispole. It had been re-deployed and went to Ballydavid to the west of Dingle to supply a detachment of marines stationed there. The following day the ambush party returned to Lispole but to no avail. On Tuesday 22 March they returned again to their positions, awaiting the arrival of the British. At 1 p.m. the enemy was sighted about a mile from the village, where they stopped their vehicles and dismounted. Cahill mistakenly assumed that they had come to raid some local houses, though it is likely that the British were aware of the proposed ambush which had been prepared for them further along the road.2


Leaving their vehicles, the soldiers advanced towards Lispole through the fields on either side of the road, thus outflanking the ambush party of approximately sixty men. Belatedly, Cahill ordered his men to retreat, but as the Volunteers were divided over five separate locations, the command did not reach some of his men and the first that they knew of the impending danger was when machine-gun fire raked their positions from the fields behind.


Tommy Hawley received a head injury during the initial engagement as he and the men in his position were captured by soldiers who had come unexpectedly from their rear. As the injured Hawley was being carried across an open field by his fellow prisoners, the accompanying soldiers panicked when they came under attack from one of the IRA parties that had been trapped in a small cleft following the departure of the main body of Volunteers. The soldiers fled, leaving Hawley and the other prisoners behind.


Fighting continued along the roadway for a considerable duration and another Volunteer, local man Tom Ashe, was severely wounded in the engagement. Such was the intensity of the fire from the IRA men, who were pinned down in the small gully, that the British forces assumed that they themselves had now been outflanked. The soldiers disengaged and retreated towards their transport vehicles, which were half a mile to the west.


Both wounded Volunteers, Tommy Hawley and Tom Ashe, were brought to a nearby farmhouse. At this stage the main body of Cahill’s force had left the area and a small group, which included Gregory Ashe and James Fitzgerald, accompanied the two wounded men on a horse-drawn cart to the home of the O’Sullivan family at Acres, a secluded townland in the hills south of Annascaul.3 There Nurse Nancy Scully dressed their wounds, but Thomas Ashe died later that night.


Tommy Hawley’s wound was treated by Dr Kane of Annascaul and the next day he was moved six miles to the east across back roads, again on a horse-drawn cart. The journey over rough roads exacerbated the pain of his injuries as he was being brought to the Herlihy house in Ballinahunt, three miles to the east of the village. There the bullet wound to his head was operated on by Dr Ferris, who had come across the mountains from Castlegregory, and this stabilised Hawley’s condition. Ferris made the journey on foot as he had given his car to the local IRA to transport some landmines and they had not returned it in time to allow him to drive to Ballinahunt. Also in this house was Jim Daly from near Castlegregory, who had been wounded during the ambush as well, although his injuries were less serious.
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